
Attachment ? 

Senior Issues (B) Task Force 

11/30/21 

 

© 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 1 

Draft: 12/10/21 

  

Long-Term Care Insurance Model Update (B) Subgroup 

Virtual Meeting 

December 1, 2021 

  

The Long-Term Care Insurance Model Update (B) Subgroup of the Senior Issues (B) Task Force met Dec. 1, 2021. The 

following Subgroup members participated: Philip Gennace, Chair (NJ); Sarah Bailey (AK); Emily Smith (CA); Jill Kruger 

(SD); Tomasz Serbinowski (UT); Bob Grissom (VA); and Ned Gaines (WA). Also participating were: Willard Smith (AL); 

Carroll Astin (AR); Eric Unger (CO); Jared Kosky (CT); Susan Jennette (DE); James Dunn (FL); Teresa Winer (GA); Jason 

Asaeda (HI); Cynthia Banks Radke (IA); Kristen Finau (ID); Christina Roy (IL); Mary Ann Williams (IN); Daniel McIlwain 

(KY); Fern Thomas (MD); Sherry Ingalls (ME); Renee Campbell (MI); Sherri Mortensen-Brown (MN); Michelle Vickers 

(MO); Ted Hamby (NC); Angie Voegele (ND); Bogdanka Kurahovic (NM); Jack Childress (NV); Martin Wojcik (NY); 

Tynesia Dorsey (OH); Landon Hubbart (OK); Jim Laverty (PA); Patrick Smock (RI); Vickie Trice (TN); Julie Walsh (WI); 

and Mavis Earnshaw (WY). 

 

1.    Adopted its Nov. 3 Minutes 

  

The Subgroup met Nov. 3 and reviewed comments received on Sections 7 through 12 of the Long-Term Care Insurance Model 

Regulation (#641). 

  

Ms. Kruger made a motion, seconded by Mr. Gaines, to adopt the Subgroup’s Nov. 3 minutes (Attachment One). The motion 

passed unanimously. 

  

2.    Discussed Comments Received on Sections 13–19 of Model #641 

  

Mr. Gennace said the Subgroup will be looking at Sections 13 through 19 of  Model #641. He said many of the comments 

received on Section 13 are similar, and he asked if anyone from America’s Health Insurance Plans (AHIP) or the American 

Council of Life Insurers (ACLI) are on the call to discuss their comments to Sections 13A(1) and 13A(2). Jan Graeber 

(ACLI) said the ACLI and AHIP believe that the language currently contained in Sections 13 through 19 remains flexible and 

compatible with the current long-term care insurance (LTCI) marketplace and new language is unnecessary. However, she said 

Section 13A states that insurers must offer a policyholder the option to purchase a policy that provides for benefit levels to 

increase with benefit maximums or reasonable durations, which are “meaningful to account for reasonably anticipated increases 

in the costs of long-term care services covered by the policy,” and Sections 13A(1) and 13A(2) require that the “increases are 

compounded annually at a rate not less than five percent (5%).” 

  

Ms. Graeber said based on industry data, an increase of 5% compounded annually does not align with the current 

LTCI marketplace and results in insurers offering policyholders a product that is more expensive than needed to meet their 

future needs. She said Section 13A(1) and 13A(2) should be opened specifically to update “5%” to a percentage that more 

appropriately aligns with “reasonably anticipated increases in the costs of long-term care services covered by the policy.” 

  

Ms. Smith said California’s comments are slightly different, but in Section 13B, the requirement to offer 5% inflation protection 

may be out of step with the current economy, and 5% is an expensive option. She said it might be wise to consider changing 

the requirement to an offer of 3%, which is a more practical option for most consumers. Alternatively, she said if a 5% option 

is still seen as important, there could be requirements to offer both a 3% option and a 5% option in order to provide flexibility 

for consumers. Mr. Serbinowski said the 5% increase amount is likely too high in the current environment. 

  

Bonnie Burns (California Health Advocates—CHA) said on behalf of the NAIC Consumer Representatives, in Section 13, 

life insurance that provides long-term care (LTC) benefits are not required to include inflation protection. She said this 

exemption assumes that life insurance benefits accumulate differently, and inflation protection described in Model #641 is 

contrary to the way in which life insurance benefits fluctuate. She said there needs to be a clear requirement for how life 

insurance benefits will meet the cost of care in future years. 

   

Ms. Burns said Model #641 should adapt to a major change in the market where the majority of LTC benefits are now sold 

with life and annuity insurance benefits. She said it is important that consumers understand the daily benefit amounts they will 

have to meet their daily LTC expenses when they need them and how benefits they are buying will meet that need in the 

future. She said there does not seem to be any specific exception for annuity products in this section of Model #641 as there is 



Attachment ? 

Senior Issues (B) Task Force 

11/30/21 

 

© 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 2 

for life insurance. She said we are concerned about whether annuities provide benefits that can increase over time to meet the 

increased cost of care and if those products are required to include inflation protection or some similar way for benefits to 

address the increasing cost of care. She said those requirements should be clear in Model #641, or there should be cross 

references to a similar requirement in other models. 

   

Ms. Burns said consumers who buy those financial products with LTCI benefits need clear information about their benefits for 

LTC expenses and how those benefits will change over time. She said there should be some requirement in Model #641 to 

address these issues. She said requirements that affect LTC benefits in life and annuity products that do not fit in Model #641 

might require changes to other models. She said there should be citations to those other models, as cross referencing to other 

models becomes even more important as the industry introduces creative new products and platforms that can include benefits 

to pay for LTC expenses. 

  

Ms. Burns said pertaining to the discussion on the 5% inflation, she is not opposed to lowering the inflation amount but would 

not be supportive of weakening the requirement for inflation protection. Mr. Gennace asked Ms. Burns in what way would or 

could this be weakened if a lower inflation amount is offered. Ms. Burns said if any lower inflation is offered, the requirement 

for full disclosure must be retained, that should not be weakened, and the disclosure and reporting documents related to inflation 

protection should not be done away with. 

  

Birny Birnbaum (Center for Economic Justice—CEJ) said recent inflation numbers suggest the decision should not be based 

upon what happened in the recent past but on what makes make sense going forward. He said it is unclear to him why industry 

would care if 5% inflation protection is required or not, given that whether they offer 5% or 3%, they will price it accordingly, 

and the company will make money either way. He said if there is a concern about the 5% inflation, the appropriate solution is 

to improve the disclosures to consumers to help consumers better understand how the cost of service has inflated over time and 

could inflate over time as compared to what their benefit is going to be over time. He said at a minimum, improvement of the 

disclosure requirements would be most effective. 

  

Mr. Serbinowski said he does not think that was the point; the point is that it is agreed that meaningful inflation protection 

is needed, and 5% in today’s environment is too high. He said the experience of the last 10 to 15 years have shown that the 

benefits of policies issued many years ago with 5% inflation protection have outpaced the cost of care. He said the point of this 

discussion at this time is not to find a solution but to determine if changes need to be made. He said if a solution is being sought, 

then it might be smarter to have the inflation benefit tied to something like the Consumer Price Index (CPI) rather than a specific 

figure or amount requirement. He said if the Subgroup decides to open Model #641, it can then look at how to change that. 

  

Ms. Burns said there is a worker shortage currently for people who provide this type of care. She said it has been mostly nursing 

home care, but it is now affecting home care, which will affect inflation costs and increase minimum wages. All these factors 

need to be discussed should Model #641 be opened and changes are to be made. 

  

Mr. Gaines said he agrees that 5% is too high, but he is concerned that lowering the amount may not be sufficient in a few 

years should a problem arise. He said having it tied to some outside factor would be better than having a set inflation figure 

since the goal is to ensure we are keeping up with inflation and not unintentionally limiting the benefit down the road. 

  

Mr. Serbinowski said in Section 13B, most of the group policies today are non-contributory; i.e. the entire premium is paid by 

the certificate holder. He said in cases where the certificate holder pays the entire premium, it would make more sense to have 

the offer made to the certificate holder. He said if Model #641 is opened, this is something that would be good to look at. Ms. 

Burns said she agrees with Mr. Serbinowski. 

  

Mr. Serbinowski said in Section 13C, it is not clear if this subsection applies to LTC benefits provided through annuities. In 

addition, he said given the shift in the marketplace to combo products, the issue of whether combo products need to offer 

inflation protection should be revisited. Ms. Burns said she agrees with Mr. Serbinowski on this point as well, and it is a 

good example of why Model #641 needs to be updated. Mr. Gaines said if the intent is for annuities to be included, then it must 

be spelled out in Model #641. 

  

Mr. Gennace said California had a comment on Section 13D and the drafting note, and he agrees that he is not sure if that 

drafting was intended for another section; he asked Ms. Smith to discuss her comment. Ms. Smith asked if the drafting note 

that follows Section 13D is somehow related to that section because its placement is confusing. She said the statement that 

inflation protection be "provided" rather than "offered" seems inconsistent with Section 13A, and the suggestion that 

meaningful benefits or durations could include "providing increases to attained age" or for "at least 20 years" sounds 



Attachment ? 

Senior Issues (B) Task Force 

11/30/21 

 

© 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 3 

contradictory to Section 13E, which states that inflation protection benefits shall continue without regard to an insured's age or 

length of time insured. She said she does not know if it needs to be changed, but it could cause some confusion, and maybe the 

Subgroup could look at it. 

  

Ms. Smith said regarding Section 13E, people want more flexibility around inflation protection, and given the high cost of 

inflation protection and varying needs among consumers, more flexibility could be achieved by a requirement that "at least one 

inflation protection option offered" must meet the continuation requirements. That way, she said insurers could also offer 

options for inflation protection of a shorter duration that may better meet the needs and budget of a consumer. 

  

Mr. Serbinowski said he has always read Section 13E to be a kind of condition for a specific inflation protection that must be 

offered. For example, he said an offer of 5% inflation does not mean 3% cannot be offered, but rather a lifetime inflation; and 

if 5% is declined, an offer of 3% for 20 years could be offered. Ms. Smith asked Mr. Serbinowski if he believes Section 13E 

does not require that inflation benefits last for the life of the policy. Mr. Serbinowski said the offer of inflation protection must 

be made, but there is flexibility as to how much is to be offered. He said the offer of 5% is required for the lifetime, but any 

additional protection does not have to be for the lifetime. 

  

Ms. Burns said she remembers this subsection being included as a protection against companies manipulating inflation 

protection over a period of time. She said the Subgroup needs to carefully consider that removing inflation protection or 

reducing it is very common, and people who have held policies for 20 to 25 years, that is a very important option for reducing 

a premium increase; the Subgroup should carefully think about this issue should the Subgroup consider modifying this 

requirement. Ms. Smith said her comments were not to suggest that the requirement be lessened or eliminated, but rather that 

some additional options or flexibility be offered to consumers. 

  

Mr. Serbinowski said this subsection says the insurer has an obligation to offer a specific inflation protection, and it does 

not prohibit offering other forms of inflation protection. He said a solution does not need to be found at this time, and he does 

not want to get too deep in the weeds on this. Ms. Smith said she would prefer language stating that there is a requirement for 

at least one inflation protection that meets the continuation requirements. She said the language currently written in Section 

13E says “shall continue,” and it does not seem to be flexible. 

  

Mr. Gennace said the language specifically says inflation protection increases, which would seem to mean all of them, as 

opposed to the other subsection that says the offer in Section 13A, which requires the specific 5% lifetime. He said he believes 

Section 13E applies to any inflation protection benefit increase, not the one offered in Section 13A, but that is a very technical 

reading of the language. 

  

Mr. Gennace asked Ms. Burns to discuss her comments on Section 13F. Ms. Burns said the Subgroup suggests changing the 

language in Section 13F from the permissive language of “may change” to “likely will change.” She said premium increases 

are more of a fact of life now since Model #641 was last amended. She said the language should be read as: 

   

Subsection F: An offer of inflation protection that provides for automatic benefit increases shall include an offer of a 

premium which the insurer expects to remain constant. The offer shall disclose in a conspicuous manner that the 

premium may likely will change in the future unless the premium is guaranteed to remain constant. 

  

Mr. Gennace said this regulation essentially requires the insurer to price and offer the benefit without the expectation of a 

premium increase; although, there could be, so he asked if the presumption is that there should not be but there may be. 

Mr. Birnbaum said it is a fine assumption, but the reality of it is quite different. He said pretending there are not going to be 

rate increases while presenting it as if it is going to be a stable premium product, when in fact history says it has never been 

that, seems to be deceptive to the consumer. Mr. Gennace said this can maybe be discussed should the Subgroup decide to open 

Model #641. 

  

Mr. Gennace asked Ms. Burns to discuss her comments on Section 14 and the replacement notices that follow this section. Ms. 

Burns said the requirements in Section 14 continue to provide important consumer protections to mitigate the inappropriate 

replacement or stacking of multiple variations of LTCI benefits. She said the two notices in this section should be reviewed in 

light of advances in consumer information and disclosure technology and knowledge. However, she said she suggests that the 

lead-in sentence on the current replacement notice should be redrafted to reflect newer products that include benefits for LTC 

in life and annuity products, riders to these newer hybrid products, and short-term LTC products. 

  



Attachment ? 

Senior Issues (B) Task Force 

11/30/21 

 

© 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 4 

Mr. Gennace asked Ms. Burns to discuss her comments on Section 15A through Section 15F. Ms. Burns suggested that a 

category of reporting include a requirement to report third-party sources of data used in the underwriting and application 

process. She said consumers need careful regulation of the costs and benefits of these newer complex financial products, and 

these hybrid products promise consumers benefits for LTC as part of a life or annuity product. She said these are already 

complicated products with costs accruing inside the policy that few policyholders understand, and consumers need to know 

about the interaction between these policy costs and their benefits to know how LTC benefits will work when they need 

them. She said as has been mentioned repeatedly during these calls, newer more specific disclosure notices are 

required regarding hybrid products with LTC benefits, along with some changes and additions to the existing Model #641. 

  

Mr. Birnbaum said the reporting requirements in this section seem to focus on lapses and replacements, and the items to be 

reported include 10% of the agents with the greatest percentage of lapses and replacements. He said it also includes claims 

denied by class of business for qualified contracts. He said there is additional information that is missing from this reporting, 

such as the number of applications received by product, the number of applications denied by product, the reasons for denial, 

and the third-party sources used for the underwriting and application process. He said there are sources of data that were not 

even contemplated when Model #641 was done, and these should be disclosed not just to state insurance regulators but to the 

consumers as well. Mr. Gaines asked if the term “producers” should be used instead of “agents.” 

  

Ms. Burns said her comments on Section 15I, as well as Section 18, are that these sections should be carefully examined to 

determine what changes, if any, are required as a result of the work being done by the Long-Term Care Insurance Financial 

Solvency (EX) Subgroup of the Long-Term Care Insurance (EX) Task Force. 

  

Mr. Gennace asked Ms. Smith to discuss her comments on Section 15I(2)(a)(i)(I) and 15I(2)(a)(i)(II). Ms. Smith said the 

comments came from an actuary in her department who believes the sections permit a margin for moderately adverse 

experience (MAE) to be added outside of the rate increase request process, and an insurer should not be allowed to re-establish 

this margin each year, as any necessary rate adjustments should be handled through the established rate increase process. 

  

Mr. Serbinowski said as an actuary, he does not understand the concern. He said this is supposed to prevent a situation in 

which something is first being marketed, it is not looked at for 10 years, and then there is a realization or discovery that 

something was mispriced and now a huge rate increase is needed. He said the annual certification was put in place so there 

would be a regular review. He said the section does not really say anything other than allowing the actuary to opine on the 

rates. 

  

Mr. Serbinowski said this requirement was put in place when standards were written for the Interstate Insurance Product 

Regulation Commission (Compact) for LTC. He said everything that is filed with the Compact since 2011 is subject to this 

requirement, and companies that file these forms must annually provide that certification. 

  

Mr. Gennace asked Mr. Serbinowski to discuss his comments on Section 18. Mr. Serbinowski questioned whether this section 

is necessary. He said if the Subgroup decides to open Model #641 for edits, it may be a good idea to check with the Health 

Actuarial (B) Task Force and Life Actuarial (A) Task Force about whether this guidance is needed. He said LTC reserves are 

addressed in other places like the Health Insurance Reserves Model Regulation (#10). He said the Limited Long-Term Care 

Insurance Model Regulation (#643) simply refers to Model #10. 

  

Ms. Burns said this section and the previous section need to be looked at in conjunction with other work being done at the 

NAIC and for the applicability to life and annuity products that include LTC. 

  

Mr. Gennace asked Mr. Serbinowski to discuss his comments on Section 19C. Mr. Serbinowski said this subsection also raises 

the question of how things apply to annuities and even to the extension of benefits. He said it exempts only life insurance 

policies that accelerate benefits for LTC, and it seems that life insurance policies with extension benefits are not exempt. He 

said neither are annuities that provide LTC because the section only applies to pre-rate stability policies, and there might not 

be too many combo products to which it applies, so this comment may not have much impact. 

  

Mr. Serbinowski said the language says it shall not apply to life insurance that accelerate extension benefits, but he asked what 

accelerate really means in this case. He asked if one could have a life insurance policy that has a dearth benefit of $100,000 

accelerated to $300,000. He said that would seem to be quite an acceleration. He asked if accelerate means you can pay the 

$100,000 sooner than the death. He said when this was written, there were not many policies like this, but now there are 

many life insurance and annuities that have not just acceleration but also extension benefits. 

  



Attachment ? 

Senior Issues (B) Task Force 

11/30/21 

 

© 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 5 

Having no further business, the Long-Term Care Insurance Model Update (B) Subgroup adjourned. 

 
SHAREPOINT LINK 

 
G:\Health and Life\LTCIModelUpdateSG\Minutes 12-01-2021.docx 

  

file://///govfs01/govvol1/group/Health%20and%20Life/LTCIModelUpdateSG/Minutes%2012-01-2021.docx


Attachment ? 

Senior Issues (B) Task Force 

11/30/21 

 

© 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 6 

Attachment One  

  

Draft: 11/4/21  

  

Long-Term Care Insurance Model Update (B) Subgroup  

Virtual Meeting  

November 3, 2021  

  

The Long-Term Care Insurance Model Update (B) Subgroup of the Senior Issues (B) Task Force met Nov. 3, 2021. The 

following Subgroup members participated: Philip Gennace, Chair (NJ); Sarah Bailey (AK); Emily Smith (CA); Roni Karnis 

(NH); Jill Kruger (SD); Tomasz Serbinowski and Jaakob Sundberg (UT); Bob Grissom (VA); and MaryKay Schaefers (WA). 

Also participating were: Willard Smith (AL); Eric Unger (CO); Paul Lombardo (CT); Susan Jennette (DE); Teresa Winer (GA); 

Jason Asaeda (HI); Cynthia Banks Radke (IA); Kristen Finau (ID); Eric Anderson (IL); Mary Ann Williams (IN); Tate Flott 

(KS); Ron Kreiter (KY); Jeff Ji (MD); Sherry Ingalls (ME); Renee Campbell (MI); Fred Andersen (MN); Michelle Vickers 

(MO); Bob Williams (MS); Ashley Perez (MT); Ted Hamby (NC); Yuri Venjohn (ND); Bogdanka Kurahovic (NM); Jack 

Childress (NV); Martin Wojcik (NY); Tynesia Dorsey (OH); Cuc Nguyen (OK); Colette Hittner (OR); Jim Laverty (PA); Matt 

Gendron (RI); Andrew Dvorine (SC); Vickie Trice (TN); Mary Block (VT); Julie Walsh (WI); and Mavis Earnshaw (WY).  

  

Adopted its Oct. 13 Minutes  

  

The Subgroup met Oct. 13 and heard presentations on the current long-term care insurance (LTCI) marketplace and what 

products are being seen, filed, and produced in the marketplace.  

  

Ms. Kruger made a motion, seconded by Ms. Karnis, to adopt the Subgroup’s Oct 13 minutes (Attachment One). The motion 

passed unanimously.  

  

Discussed Comments Received on Sections 7–12 of Model #641  

  

Mr. Gennace asked Mr. Serbinowski to explain his comment to Section 7 of the Long-Term Care Insurance Model 

Regulation (#641). Mr. Serbinowski said additional guidance may be appropriate regarding the application of Section 7 to the 

long-term care (LTC) benefits provided through a policy or contract without specified premiums. He said when LTC benefits 

are provided through a universal life insurance policy, there is no required premium; and typically, by the time the policy enters 

the grace period, the premium required to continue the policy is prohibitive. He said at the time, life insurance and hybrid 

products were kind of an afterthought, but they are now a major piece of LTCI, and this may be more of an important issue than 

it was at the time. Bonnie Burns (California Health Advocates—CHA) said she is supportive of the comments. Birny Birnbaum 

(Center for Economic Justice—CEJ) said this is part of a broader set of issues as to what type of guidance is needed for hybrid 

products in general, and there is nothing really in the model that addresses that.  

  

Mr. Gennace asked Ms. Burns to explain the NAIC Consumer Representatives’ comment on Section 7A(1). Ms. Burns said 

insurers should be required to send any changes in their contact information to the third party as well as an insured. She said 

there have been instances when there was a change in address for an insurer, and consequently, past due premiums and notices 

of an impaired policyholder were returned to the third party, as they were mailed to an outdated address. She said adding a 

confirmation notice to be sent to the current third party every two years would be helpful, and insurers should be required to 

notify policyholders of the right to change a third party for notification of a lapse in premium payment. She said there is no 

current requirement that an insurer periodically confirm the current contact information for the third party who is to be notified 

of a pending lapse, and she knows of instances where a third party has moved or died, or the notice went to an outdated or even 

wrong address. Mr. Birnbaum agreed with Ms. Burns and said there has been a lot of work done on plain language and user-

friendly approaches to providing disclosures to consumers, and this example illustrates that there is a better way than simply 

calling it a notice of lapse or termination. He said the requirement to send first-class mail should be updated to include electronic 

delivery, particularly for the third party.  

  

Mr. Gennace asked Ms. Burns to explain the NAIC Consumer Representatives’ comment on Sections 8A(2) and 8E. Ms. Burns 

said policyholders often do not see the language about premium increases buried in the paragraph about guaranteed 

renewability, and a notice of the right to increase premiums should be in a separate paragraph from guaranteed renewability. 

She said there also should be a requirement for a clear notice of waiver of premium, and the notice should describe any benefits 

covered by a premium waiver; a clear notice of the benefits not covered by a premium waiver; and a clear notice of how and 

when the premium waiver will be credited or refunded. She said policy language generally describes that premium payment 



Attachment ? 

Senior Issues (B) Task Force 

11/30/21 

 

© 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 7 

will be owed when benefits are no longer payable but may not clearly describe how and when waived premiums will be credited 

or returned. She said generally, a premium waiver is described in one place in a policy, while the return or credit of the waived 

premium is described separately.   

  

Mr. Birnbaum said there should be a glossary or a table of contents to help consumers navigate the model, and the definition 

of class, as discussed on the last call, should be included in this part as well. He said the history of the company’s rate increases, 

itemized and cumulative, should be included.  

  

Mr. Gennace asked if this is something that has changed in the LTCI marketplace that would require or precipitate the need for 

these changes or something where the regulation could be improved. Ms. Burns said it is two-fold. She said these are 

experiences people have had with their policies, so improvements are needed; but going forward, it also illustrates how the 

marketplace needs to work better. Mr. Birnbaum said he agrees with Ms. Burns, the nature of the products have changed 

significantly, and significant advances have developed since the model was developed.  

  

Ray Nelson (American Association of Health Insurance Plans—AHIP) said he understands Ms. Burns’ concerns about rating 

practices, and Section 9 added a lot of rating practices notices and disclosures for consumers that are beyond what is just in the 

policy. He said, as Mr. Birnbaum noted, there are a lot of disclosure requirements already, and most of them are regarding the 

sales process, so many of the concerns are addressed, and any changes should be looked at in total.  

  

Mr. Gennace asked Ms. Burns to explain the NAIC Consumer Representatives’ comment on Section 9. Ms. Burns said life and 

annuity contracts that provide for LTC benefits have internal costs associated with the policy and the benefits paid by the 

policy, and there is no mention in this section of how those costs might change. She said, for instance, the cost of insurance 

charged in a policy might change, or the cost of LTCI might change, which could affect the earnings in a policy and the daily 

benefit amount paid for care, and while this is not a change in premium, changes in internal costs affect the benefit a 

policyholder will receive.  

  

Mr. Serbinowski said it is not clear why in Section 9B(5)(a) the rate increase history is limited to 10 years when most 

prospective buyers will keep their policies for much longer than that. He said a cumulative rate increase for each policy form 

might be preferable to a long list of individual increases. He said for Section 9B(5)(d), one should consider if this 

provision allows some rate increases to not be reflected. He said if every company transferred business after the first increase, 

no company would be required to disclose more than one increase on a policy form.  

  

Mr. Gennace asked Mr. Serbinowski to discuss his comments on Section 10. Mr. Serbinowski said one should consider 

adopting retention requirements for actuarial assumptions, similar to those in Section 10C of the Limited Long-Term Care 

Insurance Regulation (#643). He said it can create problems as to how much assumptions change and produce projections 

based upon prior filing assumptions. He said this is not a reason alone to open the model, but should the model be open for 

updating or editing, retention language would be a good addition.  

  

Mr. Birnbaum said he had a comment on a part of Section 10. He said the section requires that insurers develop their best 

estimate of future claim costs under moderately adverse experience, then pad that estimate by at least 10%. He said the theory 

seems to be that insurers not only did not know what they were doing in the 1990s, but they have not learned anything given 

historically low interest rates, extensive lapse, and claims experiences. He said insurers are already using conservative values 

for estimating future claim costs, so it is unclear why this 10% padding is still needed, and there is no requirement for the 

insurers to return the excess profits resulting from the 10% padding. He said an insurer can raise rates of claimed costs that are 

worse than expected, but there is no requirement to lower rates of claim costs that are as good or better than expected before 

the 10% padding. He said Section 10 also provides for a margin greater than 10% if the company has less than credible 

experience to support its assumptions. He said eliminating this 10% margin is consistent with AHIP’s justification for limiting 

rate increase history to 10 years.  

  

Mr. Serbinowski said he disagrees with Mr. Birnbaum. He said perhaps if rate stability does not work, the Subgroup could 

rethink the model altogether and think of a different way to do LTC, but if there is an expectation that the Subgroup wants an 

actuary to certify that the rates are expected to be good for the lifetime of the product, then the Subgroup wants to have a 

margin.  

  

Mr. Nelson asked Mr. Birnbaum if he believes the 10% margin is in addition to the moderately adverse experience because 

one has to certify that the rates are sufficient under moderately adverse experience, and this moderately adverse experience has 

to be at least 10% of lifetime claims unless the company can justify reasons to have lower margins; therefore, the 10% margin 



Attachment ? 

Senior Issues (B) Task Force 

11/30/21 

 

© 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 8 

is not on top of the moderately adverse experience. Mr. Serbinowski and Mr. Gennace agrees with Mr. Nelson’s reading of that 

section.  

  

Mr. Gennace asked Ms. Burns to discuss the comments on Section 11C(1). She said insurers have begun to ask questions about 

family health history as part of the application process, and that could lead to misinformation or mistaken information that 

could be used later to rescind coverage. She said insurers and others have access to information and data from many sources 

that could contain erroneous information or information and data that are different from what the policyholder entered on the 

application. She said, for instance, an applicant might know anecdotally about the cause of death of a family member, but that 

might be inconsistent with the medical cause of death listed on a death certificate. She said some older family members might 

conceal a health condition from other family members, leading to an erroneous response to an application.  

  

Mr. Birnbaum agreed with Ms. Burns and said the insurer should be required to provide evidence as to why there may have 

been a denial of benefits and disclosure of any third-party databases used in that decision. Mr. Gennace asked whether there 

have been cases of this happening where a policy is rescinded or if this is more of a general concern. Ms. Burns said she had 

been involved with cases where answers to the application were challenged, but the use of third-party databases is a new area, 

and she could see this happening more frequently.  

  

Silvia Yee (Disability Rights Education and Defense Fund—DREDF) said there are cultural issues involved as well, especially 

with older relatives. She said in quite a few cultures, it is difficult to get information from relatives, especially older relatives, 

about how a family member may have died. She said she has experienced this personally, and in some cultures, how a death or 

serious illness has occurred or what occurred is just not spoken about. She said this could have a serious impact on certain 

groups of people.  

  

Mr. Birnbaum said while the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) requires disclosures of sources, it does not cover third-parry 

databases like social media; therefore, there is no opportunity for the consumer to address erroneous information found through 

these third-party databases.  

  

Ms. Arp asked if big data should be part of this discussion. Mr. Birnbaum said in the last decade, insurers have been using 

third-party databases to not only obtain or verify information given by the consumer but to also speed up the application process. 

He said he raised this issue in this section, as it could hurt the consumer having a denial based upon information that is not true 

coming from these third-party data sources. Ms. Arp asked if language in this section needs to be changed or if it is a matter of 

keeping an eye on denials and cancellations of coverage based upon the information insurers receive that was not available 20 

or 30 years ago. Mr. Birnbaum said two things need to be addressed. He said the first is what it means to make an untrue 

statement that can result in a claim denial and giving the consumer some examples of what an untrue statement would be that 

could cause a denial would be useful. He said the second is disclosure to a consumer that third-party sources are going to be 

used and providing the consumer with what those sources are in the event of a denial so that the consumer is on notice and can 

correct incorrect information found through a third-party data source.  

  

Mr. Gennace asked Ms. Burns to discuss the comment on Section 12. Ms. Burns said the dollar amount of $25 should probably 

be increased, as a home health care benefit that provides $25 a day would be illusory based on costs today. She said in addition, 

the drafting note seems to conflict with the language in Section 12B. Mr. Nelson said industry has typically been against having 

a minimum dollar amount because there are occasions where a policyholder buys a second or third policy to add to 

the previous policy, and they are sometimes buying $25 worth to just add on. He said that would be the concern of putting in 

higher minimums, but the $25 figure is small. Ms. Yee agreed and said the language in Section 12B is outdated, as making a 

distinction between home health and nursing home care and the language in the section stating “at least one-half of one year’s 

coverage” is in conflict.  

  

Mr. Gennace asked if Mr. Serbinowski wished to further clarify his comments from the last meeting on Section 6D. Mr. 

Sundberg said Mr. Serbinowski had to get off the call, but he said Mr. Serbinowski believes there is a need to specify what is 

meant by “continue” in Section 6D. He said the plain reading of the section suggests that there ought to be a conversion policy 

on the group policies, and most policies do not include one. He said the concern is not that there is no conversion policy, but 

whenever these policies are reviewed and a group policy is seen without a conversion policy, then it is objected to even though 

the group policy continues, so Mr. Serbinowski believes there needs to be some clarity about what it means to continue the 

policy.  

  

Ms. Burns asked if there was not a conversion and that group policy continues, whether the certificate holder who is no longer 

part of the group would be in danger of having their certificate terminated if the group policy is terminated. Mr. Sundberg said 



Attachment ? 

Senior Issues (B) Task Force 

11/30/21 

 

© 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 9 

he has not dealt with enough group LTC to know, but he would be interested in a response from industry on this. Ms. Burns 

said it is her understanding that a conversion is required so that the person then has what constitutes an individual policy 

separate from whatever action the group policy takes later. Mr. Hamby agreed with Ms. Burns and said they would hold that 

continuation should be allowed for the individual person. Ms. Bailey said one of the things she has been seeing across all lines 

of business is portability, and it may be messy and not a good fit for LTC. She said the insurer creates a trust, and if the group 

policyholder terminates the plan, then they move the certificate holder to the portability trust and the portability certificate is 

issued to the consumer so that they can continue the same benefits that they previously had. Mr. Hamby said he has seen this 

arrangement as well.  

  

Mr. Gennace said the next meeting will be Dec. 1, and the Subgroup will cover comments received on Section 13–19. He asked 

that comments be sent to David Torian (NAIC) by close of business on Nov. 23.  

  

Having no further business, the Long-Term Care Insurance Model Update (B) Subgroup adjourned.  

  
G:\Health and Life\LTCIModelUpdateSG\Minutes 11-03-2021.docx   

  

 


